## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL GORDON REYNOLDS,	)	
Appellant,	)	
v.	)	
	)	CASE NO. SC10-1602
STATE OF FLORIDA,	) )	L.T. NO. 98-3341-CFA
Appellee.	)	
	)	

# **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Seminole County, Florida

MELODEE A. SMITH Florida Bar No. 33121

LAW OFFICES OF MELODEE A. SMITH 101 NE 3<sup>rd</sup> Ave. Suite 1500 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301

Tel: (954) 522.9297 Fax: (954) 522.9298

MSmith@SmithCriminalDefense.com

Attorney for Appellant

#

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, Michael Gordon Reynolds (Reynolds), was the defendant and postconviction movant in the Circuit Court of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Seminole County, Florida. Appellee, State of Florida ("State"), was the plaintiff.

References to the Postconviction Record on appeal will be designated by the symbol "PCR" followed the appropriate page number(s) and encased in parentheses.

References to the Trial Record will be designated by the symbol "V" (Volume), followed pertinent volume and page number(s), encased in parentheses.

# **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This Court has appellate jurisdiction to review a Circuit Court's ruling upon a motion for post-conviction relief, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851, in a death penalty case. Art. V, § 3(b)(1), Fla. Const.; Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(1).

## STANDARDS OF REVIEW

- I. A ruling whether to grant an evidentiary hearing on a Rule 3.851 motion is subject to *de novo* review, *Seibert v. State*, Nos. SC08-708, 08-1615, -- So.3d --, 2010 WL 2680239 (Fla. 2010), accepting the motion's factual allegations as true, and affirming only if filings show it has failed to state a facially sufficient claim or that there is no issue of material fact to be determined. *Id.* If "there is any question as to whether a rule 3.851 movant has made a facially sufficient claim requiring a factual determination, the Court will presume that an evidentiary hearing is required." *Id.*; *Amendments to Fla. Rules of Crim. Pro. 3. 851, 3.852, & 3.993, 772* So.2d 488, 491 n. 2 (Fla.2000). A postconviction claim may be summarily denied only if it is "legally insufficient, should have been brought on direct appeal, or [is] positively refuted by the record." *Connor v. State, 979 So.2d 852, 868* (Fla. 2007).
- II. On review of a trial court's ruling after an evidentiary hearing on an ineffective assistance claim, this Court gives deference to the trial court's factual findings to the extent they are supported by competent, substantial evidence, but reviews *de novo* the court's determinations of deficiency and prejudice, which are mixed questions of fact and law. *Arbelaez v. State*, 898 So.2d 25, 32 (Fla. 2005).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On August 25, 1998, Michael Gordon Reynolds, was indicted on three counts of first-degree premeditated murder for the murders of Danny Ray Privett, Robin Razor, and Christina Razor, and burglary of a dwelling in which a battery upon Robin or Christina or both was committed while being armed with a weapon. (V1 31-33). Reynolds entered pleas of not guilty, and the case came to jury trial.

#### Facts Adduced at Trial

The relevant circumstances of the crime and jury trial are set forth in this Court's opinion on direct appeal, *Reynolds v. State*, 934 So.2d 1128 (Fla. 2006):

On July 22, 1998, the bodies of the victims were found on the property located at 1628 Clekk Circle in Geneva, Florida. Danny's body was found outside near a large pine tree, and the bodies of Robin and Christina were found inside a trailer in which the victims were living. The trial in this case began on April 21, 2003, and on May 7, 2003, Reynolds was found guilty of the lesser-included offense of second-degree murder as to the murder of Danny, and guilty as charged as to the remaining three counts of the fourcount indictment. The evidence established that on July 22, 1998, Shirley Razor, the mother of victim Robin Razor, traveled to the crime scene to deliver items Danny used in the work he was doing on trailers at that location. Upon arriving at the property, Shirley noticed Danny lying on the ground outside. Shirley, being accustomed to seeing Danny drunk and passed out, proceeded to her separate trailer on the property and ate her lunch. After finishing her lunch, Shirley walked over to the trailer in which Danny and Robin were living when she noticed that Danny had a "hole in his head." After discovering that Danny was dead, Shirley ran to a neighbor's residence and called the authorities. Subsequent to the arrival of the fire department

personnel, Shirley went to her daughter's trailer and upon looking inside found that her daughter, Robin, and her granddaughter, Christina, were inside and apparently dead. At trial, a medical examiner, Dr. Sara Hyatt Irrgang, testified that the deaths had occurred at least eight hours, but probably more than twelve hours prior to her arrival at the crime scene, placing the time of death between nine p.m. on July 21 and seven a.m. on the morning of July 22. The evidence demonstrated that Danny Ray Privett was found lying outside beneath a large pine tree on his side with his face down, surrounded by bloody pieces of concrete block and broken pieces of glass. Danny's jeans were partially unzipped suggesting that he had been in the process of urinating when the attack occurred. The autopsy of Danny Ray Privett revealed that he suffered a large depressed skull fracture with additional injuries to the head area. The wounds appeared to have been caused by three or more separate blows, with the injuries indicating that the assailant had been behind the victim. There was no indication of any defensive wounds on Danny, and examination of his major skull injury revealed that the injury was likely caused by a partially broken cinder block, based on fragments found within the wound. The medical examiner was unable to determine the order in which the injuries had been inflicted upon him. The cause of death for Danny was determined to be primarily due to blunt force trauma to the head with the large depressed skull fracture probably being the fatal blow. If this blow had been inflicted first, the medical examiner opined that the victim would have lost consciousness within a second to a minute or two. Robin and Christina Razor were found dead inside the living room portion of the camper trailer being used as living quarters. Robin was found lying on the floor, face up. Christina was found nearby sitting on the couch and leaning to her left. The living room area was in disarray and a large amount of blood was scattered throughout this area of the trailer. Robin Razor's autopsy revealed that she suffered multiple stab wounds along with multiple blows to the side of her face and a broken neck resulting in injuries to her spinal cord. Closer examination revealed that Robin suffered ten stab wounds to the head and neck area and one to the torso area. The wounds appeared to have been inflicted with a sharp object such as a knife or scissors. Based on examination of the Robin's body and the defensive wounds present, the medical examiner opined that she had been involved in a violent struggle. In addition to the above wounds, Robin suffered multiple superficial wounds to her torso area which the medical examiner stated to be consistent with torment wounds--

wounds produced not to cause serious injury but to cause aggravation and produce fear in the victim. The medical examiner was of the opinion that because blows to the victim's head were inflicted at different angles and the presence of significant defensive wounds, it was likely that she was conscious and struggling when these wounds were inflicted. The primary cause of death for Robin was determined to be the broken neck and spinal cord injury, although bleeding from the stab wounds would have also resulted in death. The autopsy of Christina Razor revealed that she suffered blunt force trauma to her head, a stab wound to the base of her neck that pierced her heart, and another stab wound to her right shoulder that pierced her lung and lacerated her pulmonary artery. These latter two wounds would have resulted in significant internal and external hemorrhaging and would have been fatal. The medical examiner indicated that the only sign of defense wounds to Christina was the presence of a small contusion to her left hand, which could have occurred as she attempted to block a blow from her assailant. The medical examiner opined that Christina would have lost consciousness within a minute or two of receiving the stab wounds. The primary cause of death for Christina was determined to be internal and external hemorrhaging. During his investigation of the crimes, Investigator John Parker of the Seminole County Sheriff's Department made contact with Reynolds and requested that he submit to an interview, to which Reynolds voluntarily agreed. During this interview, Investigator Parker also inquired about injuries that he observed on Reynolds' hand and ankle. In response to inquiries made about these injuries, Reynolds advised the investigator that at approximately five a.m. on the morning that the victims' bodies were discovered, he was taking his dog outside and slipped on the exterior step of his camper, twisting his ankle. Reynolds stated that the cut on his hand occurred when he caught his hand on a burr on the aluminum door frame of his trailer as he attempted to break his fall by grabbing the door frame. Reynolds advised the investigator that approximately thirty or forty minutes after sustaining the injuries he cleaned the cut to his hand and proceeded to an emergency room for treatment. Reynolds stated that while on his way to the emergency room he suffered a flat tire and borrowed a jack from a convenience store to change his tire and after doing so he proceeded to the emergency room. After receiving treatment for his injuries, Reynolds informed the investigator that he returned to his residence and removed the burr from the trailer door frame with a pair of channel-lock pliers. In addition to the discussion concerning the injury,

Reynolds also discussed an altercation in which he was involved with Danny Ray Privett regarding a trailer that was allegedly given to Reynolds by his landlord. According to Reynolds, the argument with Danny was centered upon Danny removing the trailer from Reynolds' property without permission. Upon discovering that Danny had removed the trailer, Reynolds indicated that he confronted Danny and a heated argument ensued. Reynolds stated that after exchanging words with Danny, he left Danny's property but returned a short while later to apologize and advise Danny that he could keep the trailer. Significantly, during this interview Reynolds advised the investigator that he had never been inside the trailer in which the victims were living. Subsequent to this interview, Reynolds gave permission for the search of both his trailer and his vehicle, and he also agreed to provide hair and blood samples for DNA analysis. Additionally, pursuant to a search warrant certain evidence was seized from Reynolds' vehicle and residence. At trial, a neighbor of the victims testified that on the night prior to the discovery of the bodies he observed a car similar to that of Reynolds parked at the victims' residence. Fingerprint and shoe pattern analysis of the crime scene and items collected from the scene revealed several prints of value, but none of them connected Reynolds to the scene. However, extensive evidence with regard to DNA analysis resulting from testing of items of evidence recovered from the crime scene was presented. Several of the items recovered from the crime scene inside the trailer and on the exterior of the trailer contained a DNA profile matching that of Reynolds. There was no eyewitness testimony offered by the State and, other than the concrete block allegedly used to strike the victims, The defense attempted to establish no other weapon was recovered. mishandling and contamination of the evidence, along with suggesting that other individuals had committed the crimes with which Reynolds had been charged. The defense elicited testimony from Danielle Privett, Danny and Robin's other daughter, indicating that her parents had been having an ongoing disagreement regarding rent payments with a man by the name of Justin Pratt, a friend of Pratt's, Alan Combs, and Pratt's girlfriend, Nicole Edwards. In addition to this testimony, Reynolds presented evidence consisting of portions of an interview conducted by the Sheriff's Department with Pratt wherein Pratt discussed the disagreement and admitted that he had left a note at the victims' residence indicating that "it was war, ... conventional weapons." After hearing all the evidence, the jury rendered a verdict finding Reynolds guilty of second-degree murder as to the death of Danny Privett,

two counts of first-degree murder as to the deaths of Robin and Christina Razor, and burglary of a dwelling during which a battery was committed while Reynolds was armed with a weapon. During the penalty phase the State presented four witnesses. Danna Birks established multiple prior convictions of Reynolds. Tonya Chapple, the victim of Reynolds' prior conviction for aggravated battery, described the circumstances surrounding the prior crime. Christina Razor's grandmother testified as to Christina's age at the time of the crimes, and Robin Razor's brother read a prepared statement in the nature of victim impact evidence. Reynolds, after thorough consultation with his attorneys and the trial court, waived his right to present mitigating evidence. On May 9, 2003, the jury returned unanimous recommendations of death for both first-degree murder convictions. During the Spencer hearing, the sole testimony presented by the defense was the testimony of Reynolds himself. The State did not present any testimony, relying solely on the evidence and testimony admitted during the guilt and penalty phase trials as support for the aggravating factors. At sentencing, the State presented testimony of Teresa Barcia, the sister of Danny Ray Privett, who read a prepared statement expressing the pain caused by the victims' death and asking the court to impose the maximum sentence provided by law. On September 19, 2003, the trial judge sentenced Reynolds to concurrent sentences of life for the murder of Danny Ray Privett and the burglary conviction, and the trial judge entered separate sentences of death for the murders of Robin and Christina Razor. In pronouncing Reynolds' sentence, the trial court found that the State had proven beyond a reasonable doubt the existence of four statutory aggravators for the murder of Robin Razor: (1) Reynolds had previously been convicted of a another capital felony or a felony involving a threat of violence to the person (great weight); (2) Reynolds committed the murder while he was engaged in or was an accomplice in the commission of or an attempt to commit a burglary of a dwelling (great weight); (3) the murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding a lawful arrest (great weight); and (4) the murder was committed in an especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel fashion (great weight). Christina Razor's murder, the trial court found that the State had proven beyond a reasonable doubt the existence of five statutory aggravators: (1) Reynolds had previously been convicted of a capital felony or a felony involving a threat of violence to the person (great weight); (2) Reynolds committed the murder while he was engaged in or was an accomplice in the

commission of or an attempt to commit a burglary of a dwelling (great weight); (3) the murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding a lawful arrest (great weight); (4) the murder was committed in an especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel fashion (great weight); and (5) the victim of the murder was a person less than twelve years of age (great weight). In its analysis of the mitigation present, the trial court acknowledged the defendant's waiver of the presentation of mitigating evidence but, nonetheless, the court considered and weighed any mitigation that it found to be established. In doing so, the trial court found that the following nonstatutory mitigating circumstances had been established and were applicable to both the murders of Robin and Christina Razor: (1) that Reynolds was gainfully employed at the time of the crimes (little weight); (2) that Reynolds manifested appropriate courtroom behavior throughout the proceedings (little weight); (3) that Reynolds cooperated with law enforcement (little weight); and (4) that Reynolds had a difficult childhood (little weight). The trial court determined that the evidence did not establish that Reynolds could easily adjust to prison life. The trial court recognized that evidence was presented by Reynolds for purposes of establishing lingering doubt. However, the trial court noted that it would not consider any theory of lingering doubt as nonstatutory mitigation in its sentencing analysis.

Reynolds v. State, 934 So.2d at 1135-1139.

# **Direct Appellate Proceedings**

On direct appeal of his judgments of conviction and sentences of death, Reynolds raised the following issues:

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ADMIT THE ENTIRE STATEMENT OF AN UNAVAILABLE WITNESS WHERE THE REDACTED PORTIONS WERE NOT OFFERED TO PROVE THE TRUTH OF THE MATTER ASSERTED OR WERE AN ADMISSION

AGAINST THE DECLARANT'S INTERESTS, AND WHERE THE EXCLUSION DEPRIVED THE DEFENDANT OF HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL AND TO PRESENT HIS DEFENSE, UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AND ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 9, 16, 17, AND 22 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

## POINT II

THE CONVICTIONS FOR TWO FIRST-DEGREE MURDERS, SECOND DEGREE MURDER, AND BURGLARY VIOLATE THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 9 AND 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE IS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE GUILTY VERDICT.

#### POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DECLINING THE DEFENDANT'S EXPRESS WAIVER OF HIS RIGHT TO A SENTENCING JURY RECOMMENDATION, RENDERING HIS SENTENCE UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AND ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 9, 16, 17, AND 22 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

#### **POINT IV**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING TESTIMONY OF DETAILS OF A PRIOR VIOLENT FELONY FOR WHICH THERE HAD BEEN NO CONVICTION, DEPRIVING HIM OF HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL AND RENDERING HIS DEATH SENTENCES UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AND ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 9, 16, 17, AND 22 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

#### POINT V

PLACING A *HIGHER* BURDEN OF PERSUASION ON THE DEFENSE TO PROVE THAT LIFE IMPRISONMENT SHOULD BE IMPOSED THAN IS PLACED ON THE STATE TO PERSUADE THAT CAPITAL PUNISHMENT SHOULD BE IMPOSED VIOLATES FUNDAMENTAL FAIRNESS AND DENIES DUE PROCESS UNDER *IN RE WINSHIP* AND *MULLANEY V. WILBUR*.

#### POINT VI

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO CONSIDER IN ITS DEATH SENTENCE DETERMINATION RESIDUAL DOUBT AS TO THE DEFENDANT'S GUILT, IN VIOLATION OF THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND RENDERING HIS DEATH SENTENCES UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE FLORIDA AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS.

#### POINT VII

THE APPELLANT'S DEATH SENTENCES WERE IMPERMISSIBLY IMPOSED BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT INCLUDED IMPROPER CIRCUMSTANCES, EXCLUDED AGGRAVATING MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES, AND FAILED TO PROPERLY FIND THAT THE MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES OUTWEIGH THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES, RENDERING THE DEATH SENTENCES UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I. §17 OF THE CONSTITUTION.

## POINT VII[I]

FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER RING V. ARIZONA.

This Court affirmed Reynolds' judgment and death sentence on direct appeal, *Reynolds v. State*, 934 So.2d 1128 (Fla. 2006). Reynolds filed his petition for certiorari in the United States Supreme Court, which was denied January 8, 2007. *Reynolds v. Florida*, 549 U.S. 1122, 127 S.Ct. 943 (2007).

# Postconviction Filings

Reynolds subsequently moved for postconviction relief, pursuant to Rule 3.851, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, alleging the following sixteen grounds:

# CLAIM 1

THE STATE COMMITTED PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT WHEN IT INTRODUCED THE FALSE TESTIMONY OF A KEY WITNESS AND ALLOWED THE LIE TO REMAIN UNCORRECTED, VIOLATING MR. REYNOLDS' RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS THE STATE ALSO COMMITTED PROSECUTORIAL **MISCONDUCT** WHEN IT INTRODUCED A SEXUAL BATTERY THEORY UNSUPPORTED BY **EVIDENCE OTHER THAN FALSE** TESTIMONY, ANY THE INFLAMING THE JURY THE MISCONDUCT DEPRIVED MR. REYNOLDS OF A FAIR TRIAL IN VIOLATION OF HIS RIGHTS PROTECTED BY THE 4<sup>th</sup>, 5<sup>th</sup>, 6<sup>th</sup>, 8<sup>th</sup> AND 14<sup>th</sup> AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

# CLAIM 2

THE STATE VIOLATED THE REQUIREMENTS OF BRADY V. MARYLAND, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) WHEN IT FAILED TO DISCLOSE THE EXTENT OF JOHN FITZPATRICK'S POWER TO AFFECT ALL DNA RESULTS AT THE FDLE LAB, AND WHEN THE FULL EXTENT OF

DEPUTY JOHN PARKER'S DISHONESTY WAS NOT DISCLOSED TO THE DEFENSE OR AT TRIAL.

#### CLAIM 3

DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN THE GUILT AND PENALTY PHASES UNDER THE PRECEPTS OF STRICKLAND V. WASHINGTON, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), IN THE MANNER IN WHICH IT HANDLED THE DNA EVIDENCE AND THE SEXUAL BATTERY ARGUMENT THE INEFFECTIVENESS ON THESE ISSUES DEPRIVED MR. REYNOLDS OF A FAIR TRIAL IN VIOLATION OF HIS RIGHTS PROTECTED BY THE 4<sup>th</sup>, 5<sup>th</sup>, 6<sup>th</sup>, 8<sup>th</sup> AND 14<sup>th</sup> AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION. IAC FOR FAILURE TO OBJECT OR CURE THE FALSE TESTIMONY OF CHARLES BADGER. COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN THE GUILT PHASE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE STATE'S UNSUPPORTED ARGUMENT THAT A SEXUAL BATTERY WAS THE MOTIVE FOR THE MURDERS.

#### CLAIM 4

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