IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL GORDON REYNOLDS,	
Appellant,	
v.	Case No. SC10-1602
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

Barbara C. Davis Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0410519 444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th Floor Telephone: (386) 238-4990 Facsimile: (386) 226-0457

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Point 1: The trial judge did not err in summarily denying claims which were procedurally barred, legally insufficient, refuted by the record or without merit. Claims not adequately briefed on appeal are waived.

Point 2: The trial judge held an evidentiary hearing on each of the claims raised in this point. His findings are supported by competent substantial evidence. Reynolds

failed to meet his burden on deficient performance and prejudice as required by *Strickland*. Claims not adequately briefed on appeal are waived. Testimony of witnesses not available to testify at the penalty phase should not considered in postconviction proceedings.

Standard of Review on Claims of Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

Before ruling on the claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, the trial judge properly recognized Strickland as the controlling authority for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel:

According to the United States Supreme Court in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984), a defendant must meet a two-prong test to successfully allege ineffective assistance of counsel.

First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction or death sentence resulted from. a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable.

466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2064. The Supreme Court further stated that

A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.

466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. at 2065. "Moreover, strategic decisions do not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel if alternative courses have been considered and rejected and counsel's decision was reasonable under the norms of professional conduct." *Occhicone v. State*, 768 So. 2d 1037, 1048 (Fla. 2000). "A Defendant bears the burden of establishing both prongs of the *Strickland* test before a criminal conviction will be vacated." *Schofield v. State*, 681 So. 2d 736, 737 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996).

(V10, R1645-46).

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ERR IN SUMMARILY DENYING CLAIMS WHICH WERE PROCEDURALLY BARRED, LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT, OR REFUTED BY THE RECORD

Reynolds argues the trial judge erred in summarily denying Claims 1, 2, 3A, 5, 10, 12, A-III, A-IV, and A-V. (Brief at 36). He concedes that summarily denied claims not raised on appeal are waived. Notwithstanding, Reynolds attempts to argue the summary denial of nine claims but only brief seven. Any issue which is not briefed on appeal is waived. *See Simmons v. State*, 934 So. 2d 1100, 1111 n.12 (Fla. 2006) *citing Coolen v. State*, 696 So. 2d 738, 742 n.2 (Fla. 1997); *Duest v. Dugger*, 555 So. 2d 849,

852 (Fla. 1990). The claims which are argued on appeal include:

Claim 3(a): ineffective assistance of counsel - failure to object to false testimony;

Claim 5: ineffective assistance of counsel - failure to object to misstatement regarding burden of proof;

Claim 10: ineffective assistance of counsel - Inv. Ray Parker not qualified to give expert testimony;

Claim 12: ineffective assistance of counsel - neighbor not qualified to give lay testimony about bleaching clothing;

A-III: lethal injection;

A-IV: ineffective assistance of counsel – fail to object to sleeping juror;

A-V: ineffective assistance of counsel – fail to prepare defendant to testify.

This Court has consistently held that a claim that could or should have been raised on direct appeal is procedurally barred. *Miller v. State*, 926 So. 2d 1243, 1260 (Fla. 2006); *Davis v. State*, 915 So. 2d 95, 129 (Fla. 2005). A procedurally barred claim cannot be relitigated under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel. *See Rodriguez v. State/Crosby*, 919 So. 2d 1252, 1262 (Fla. 2005); *Freeman v. State/Singletary*, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1067 (Fla. 2000). Postconviction claims also may be summarily denied when they are legally insufficient, should have been brought on direct appeal, or are positively refuted by the record. *Connor v. State*, 979 So. 2d 852 (Fla. 2007). Allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel may be summarily

denied when refuted by the record or the allegations are conclusory. *Id. See also Troy v. State*, 57 So. 3d 828, 834 (Fla. 2011); *Franqui v. State*, 59 So. 3d 82, 96 (Fla. 2011); *Walls v. State*, 926 So. 2d 1156, 1173 (Fla. 2006); *Knight v. State*, 923 So. 2d 387 (Fla. 2005).

Claim 3(a): ineffective assistance of counsel - failure to object to "false" testimony of Charles Badger. Claim 1(a) of the Motion for Postconviction Relief alleged the prosecutor presented false testimony from FDLE analyst Charles Badger. (V2, R 110-126). Claim 3(a) of the motion to vacate also raised a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to the "false" testimony. (V2, R129). The trial transcript indicates that FDLE analyst Charles Badger testified regarding the Christina Razor vaginal swab:

And those results that were obtained were found to be consistent or matched the DNA results that were obtained were found to be consistent or matched the DNA profile of **Christina Razor and Michael Reynolds. Robin Razor and Danny Privett were excluded** from being the donors of the DNA profile observed. (Emphasis supplied)

(DAR, V17, R2015). Charles Badger's report¹² at page 6 reports the results of DNA testing on the vaginal swabs from Christina Razor:

The partial DNA profile... obtained for exhibit ME-9E is consistent with the profile obtained from ME-2b (stain card of liquid blood represented

49

¹² Defense counsel had Charles Badger's report, which was provided in discovery on September 18, 2000. (V2, R254-64). Defense counsel even moved to exclude the report as improper bolstering. (DAR2747-48).

as being from Christina Razor). **Michael Reynolds, Robin Razor and Danny Privett are excluded** from being the donor of the DNA profile observed. (Emphasis supplied)

(V2, R261; Def. Exh. 9, (V14, TR768-69). This was obviously a scrivener's error on the part of the court reporter, and there was a "." in the wrong place. The State obtained an affidavit from the court reporter in which she corrected the error and the State attached the affidavit to its response to the postconviction motion together with the tape recording of Badger's trial testimony. (V2, R252, 253). The disparity between Badger's report and the transcript was the subject of the State's Motion to Correct Record. (V3, R332-354). The defense opposed the motion to correct. (V380-414). The trial judge held a hearing, after which he denied the motion to correct the record. (V5, R627-28).

Even though Claim 3(a) was summarily denied, the issue was explored during the testimony of trial attorney Iennaco at the evidentiary hearing. Mr. Iennaco recognized that there was a difference between what Badger's report said and what the transcript of his testimony said. (V14, TR771). The audiotape of the trial testimony was played for Mr. Iennaco, who clarified that if the transcript were changed to change the period, Badger's testimony would be:

"and those results that were obtained were found to be consistent with Christina Razor. And Michael Reynolds, Robin Razor and Danny Privett were excluded from being the donors of the DNA profile observed." (Emphasis supplied) (V14, TR774-777). That testimony would be consistent with Badger's report. (V14, TR778, State Exhibit 5). Because the testimony was actually consistent with the report, there was no reason for Iennaco to object. (V14, TR778-79). Furthermore, the markers shown in the report show that the results could not possibly match both Christine Razor and Reynolds. (V14, TR779).

The trial judge noted in his order after the postconviction evidentiary hearing:

The Defendant continues to argue what he terms "the Badger lie." This issue has been litigated extensively throughout the post-conviction process, and is outlined at various points in the record. This Court declined to correct the transcript to comport with the State's interpretation of what it said, nor did the Court accept that the Defendant's interpretation was correct. The Court simply let the transcript speak for itself, leaving the parties to argue about the differing interpretations. However, this Court has heard the tape of the trial, as did Attorney Iennaco. (EH 769-79). It does appear that the State's interpretation of the testimony is correct, especially when noting, as Attorney Iennaco did, that the presence of a gender marker would necessarily make the identification of the DNA coming from both the Defendant and the female victim a genetic impossibility.

(V10, R1646 n. 2). These findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence.

Further, the prosecutor did not, as Reynolds argues, state that Reynolds's sperm was on Christina's vaginal swabs. Just the opposite. The prosecutor told the jury there was *no* sperm on Christina's body. (DARV21, R2939). The prosecutor presented testimony that there was no semen on Christina's vaginal swab, and the defense expanded on that testimony in direct examination. (DAR, V15, R1651, 1691). This

claim was properly denied summarily. *See Troy v. State*, 57 So. 2d 828 (Fla. 2011); *Franqui v. State*, 59 So. 3d 82 (Fla. 2011).

Claim 5: ineffective assistance of counsel - failure to object to misstatement regarding burden of proof. Reynolds claims defense counsel failed to object to the trial judge's misstatement when giving instructions to jurors during voir dire. The direct appeal record shows that the trial judge mistakenly said "the State doesn't have to do anything" rather than "the defense" or "the Defendant." (DAR571). The prosecutor subsequently brought the error to the attention of the trial judge, who responded "I think I drove it home enough to where they understand." (DAR627). Defense counsel asked the judge to correct the mistake, but the trial judge did not correct the misstatement. (DAR, V10, R627-28).

First, this issue should have been raised on direct appeal and is procedurally barred. The record shows on its face that the judge failed to correct the misstatement.

Second, this issue has no merit. As the trial judge stated, he "drove it home enough" so there was no question regarding the State's burden. Prior to the misstatement, the judge repeatedly "drove home" the fact that the Defendant was presumed innocent and the State had the burden beyond a reasonable doubt, as follows:

Presumptions have long been a part of criminal law. The presumption of innocence is such an example. Our system of justice is accusatorial

in nature. That means that the State has the power to accuse, and the responsibilities to prove, a charge against a Defendant. As a result, a Defendant is presumed innocent until proven guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. (DAR30).

Do you agree with the principle of law that a person is presumed to be innocent until proven guilty beyond a reasonable doubt?(DAR199).

Will you continue to give the Defendant the benefit of the presumption of innocence through each stage of the trial until the State of Florida, if it can, overcomes that presumption by proving the Defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt? (DAR204).

Presumptions have long been a part of criminal law, the presumption of innocence is such an example. Our system of justice is accusatorial in nature. That means the State has the power to accuse and the responsibility to prove a charge against the defendant. As a result, a defendant is presumed innocent unless proven guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. (DAR220)

Do you agree with the principle of law that a person is presumed to be innocent until proven guilty beyond a reasonable doubt?" (DAR380)

Will you continue to give the Defendant the benefit of the presumption of innocence through each stage of the trial until the State of Florida, if it can, overcomes that presumption by proving the Defendant guilty beyond and to the exclusion of a reasonable doubt? (DAR381).

In a criminal case, the burden is much higher, it's beyond and to the exclusion of a reasonable doubt. Do does everyone understand the higher burden of proof applies in the criminal case? (DAR435).

I always ask the State in the presence of all the members of the panel, if they accept the burden of proving the case beyond and to the exclusion of a reasonable doubt? This case is no different. Mr. Hastings, does the State of Florida accept the burden of proof beyond and to the exclusion of all reasonable doubt?

MR. HASTINGS: We do. (DAR564-65).

After the trial judge misspoke and said the State had the burden, the prosecutor repeatedly made it clear that the State had the burden of proof:

[E]ach of the crimes in the State of Florida, no matter what they are, whether it's a shoplifting or first degree murder, have certain number of elements, and each of those elements, the Judge told you, has to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. (DAR574).

And you all indicated that before you would find the Defendant guilty, you would make sure that the State proved those elements beyond a reasonable doubt. (DAR575).

Now, the burden of proof, as you've heard and everything, in a criminal case, it doesn't matter whether it's a shoplifting case or a first degree murder case, is beyond a reasonable doubt. Would you -- Do you feel that's appropriate burden?" (DAR619)

Defense counsel also drilled the jurors on the burden:

Do you believe he, in fact, should be presumed to be innocent?

PROSPECTIVE JURORS: Yes.

MR. LAURENCE: That presumption stays with Mr. Reynolds until such time, if any, that the State Attorney's office proves beyond a reasonable doubt that it should go away; that, in fact, he was guilty. Do you understand that? (DAR716).

In a criminal case, the burden of proof is much different, it's beyond each and every reasonable doubt. Standard is much higher. Do each of you accept that that standard is much higher?" (DAR717).

Before they were sworn, the jurors were once again reminded of the burden

of proof:

It is your solemn responsibility to determine if the State has proved its accusation beyond a reasonable doubt against Mr. Reynolds. Your verdict must be based solely on the evidence, or lack of evidence, and the law. (DAR717).

During closing argument, both the State and the defense constantly reminded the jury of the burden of proof, reasonable doubt, and the presumption of innocence. (DAR2782, 2783, 2794, 2823, 2825, 2828, 2829, 2830, 2950, 2952) (State on reasonable doubt); (DAR2934) (State on burden); (DAR2870, 2880, 2885, 2891-92, 2913, 2925, 2949) (defense on reasonable doubt); (DAR2891-92, 2894, 2897, 2900) (defense on burden of proof). Throughout the arguments, the parties referenced the judge's instructions. The judge instructed the jury on each count about the burden of proof and reasonable doubt. (DAR2973, 2975, 2976, 2977, 2979, 2980, 2981, 2982, 2984, 2985, 2986, 2987, 2989, 2990, 2994, 2995, 2996).

Counsel was not deficient because he asked the judge to correct the misstatement. There was no prejudice from the judge's one misstatement. The jury was reminded over and over that the State had the burden to prove the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt and the Defendant was presumed innocent.

There is no possibility, much less a reasonable probability, this one statement affected the outcome of the trial. *Johnston v. State/Buss*, 36 Fla. L. Weekly S193 (Fla. Apr. 28, 2011); *Gonzalez v. State*, 990 So. 2d 1017, 1027 (Fla. 2008). *See, e.g.*

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